IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-00445-COA

JAMES RILEY, a/k/a Boo-Lu

V. .

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AUG OF 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK2007 SUPREME COURT OFFICE OF APPEAL SHE CLERK OFFICE OF APPEALS SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

George T. Holmes, MSB No. Mississippi Office of Indigent Appeals 301 North Lamar St., Suite 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for James Riley

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2007-KA-00445-COA

JAMES RILEY, a/k/a Boo-Lu

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

<u>ISSUE NO. 1</u> :	WHETHER Miss. Code Ann. §97-37-35(c)(2006 Supp.) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL?
ISSUE NO.2:	WHETHER THE VERDICTS FOR COUNTS IV AND V WERE ADEQUATELY SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE?
<u>ISSUE NO. 3</u> :	WHETHER RILEY'S SENTENCE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE?
ISSUE NO. 4:	WHETHER JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 4 WAS IMPROPER?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from a judgment of conviction for two counts of "trafficking in stolen firearms" under Miss. Code Ann. §97-37-35(3)(c)(2006 Supp.) against James Riley and two resulting concurrent sentences of 30 years each out of the Circuit Court of Attala County, Mississippi following a trial held March 6, 2007, Honorable Joseph H. Loper, Jr., Circuit Judge, presiding. James Riley is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

There was a rash of house burglaries in Holmes and Attala Counties in July and August 2006. [T. 28-62, 74-75]. At Riley's trial, there was testimony from several of the house burglary victims who described how they discovered their homes had been burgled. *Id.* These witnesses identified photographs of firearms and other matters

concerning the break-ins. *Id.* In the investigation of the burglaries, the Attala County Sheriff's Office questioned Martin Ickom and James Riley, the appellant here. [T. 75-77].

James Riley denied any involvement; but, he did state that he knew who had purchased some stolen weapons. [T. 76-77, 107-08] The investigation led to a person named William Robinson, who was found to be in possession of nine stolen guns. *Id.* Robinson testified he obtained the guns from Ickom and Riley on two occasions. [T.64-67].

Ultimately, Ickom and Riley were indicted separately. Ickom was only charged with two counts of house burglary and one count of business burglary. Riley, on the other hand, was indicted for two counts of house burglary, one count of business burglary and two additional counts of trafficking in stolen firearms. [R. 1; T. 104] There is nothing in the record that Robinson was ever charged in this case.

Robinson testified Ickom and Riley first came to him on August 13, 2006 and offered to sell three firearms. [T. 64-66]. Robinson said he told Riley that he was short on money and only had \$125. According to Robinson, Riley said he needed to go check with his "friend" Ickom who was outside waiting in Ickom's car, about the price Robinson was offering. *Id.* Robinson said Ickom gave the okay, and Robinson purchased, or "pawned" three weapons for \$125.00. *Id.*

Three days later on August 16, 2006, Robinson testified that Ickom and Riley

came back and Robinson purchased five more guns for \$125.00. [T. 66-67]. However, during this second time, Ickom handled all the negotiations about price and the delivery of the weapons out of Ickom's automobile trunk. [T. 67, 72]. Robinson admitted to purchasing eight weapons; but, the investigation determined that he had at least one more for a total of nine (9). [T. 76-77].

Ickom, who admitted being a thief his whole life, had the following prior felony convictions: six auto burglaries, one house burglary and two business burglaries. [T. 101-03]. Ickom pled guilty in his separate case to house burglary and business burglary and received a sentence totaling thirty-two (32) years. [T. 93]. Ickom said he made no deal to testify in Riley's trial; however, Ickom was never charged with selling the stolen weapons and his sentence was thirty-two (32) years instead of a potential fifty-seven (57) years, so he did receive some benefit from testifying against Riley. *Id*.

Ickom, in his testimony, placed all the blame on Riley and accepted no responsibility himself. [T. 84-95]. Ickom described how Riley allegedly broke into the several houses while Ickom was merely at the scene, standing around or being a lookout. The jury did not believe Ickom as to Riley being involved any of the relevant burglaries; because, the jury acquitted Riley of all of the burglary counts I, II and III. [R. 24-27].

Investigating officers revealed that Ickom's girlfriend and mother received a considerable amount of jewelry; and, there were stolen items found in Ickom's automobile.[T. 79-81, 93]. Riley' house was never searched. [T. 112].

Immediately after the trial, Riley was sentenced to two concurrent 30 year terms of imprisonment. [R. 26-27; T.143-44] The court gave no explanation for the sentence. *Id.* There is nothing in the record indicating any prior convictions of Riley.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Miss. Code Ann. §97-37-35(3)(c)(2006 Supp.) is unconstitutional because it is vague, it creates illegal presumptions against a defendant and provides for cruel and unusual punishment incongruous with the seriousness of the underlying offense. The conviction is not supported by competent evidence. James Riley's sentence is unconstitutionally disproportionate to the alleged criminal conduct, and he was irreparably prejudiced by an improper jury instruction.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER MISS. CODE ANN. §97-37-35(3)(c) (2006 Supp.) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

Riley was indicted in Counts IV and V of the indictment in this case under

Subsection (3)(c) of Miss. Code Ann. §97-37-35(2006 Supp.).¹ The appellant's position

¹Miss, Code Ann. §97-37-35. Stolen firearms.

(1) It is unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to possess, receive, retain, acquire or obtain possession or dispose of a stolen firearm or attempt to possess, receive, retain, acquire or obtain possession or dispose of a stolen firearm.

⁽²⁾ It is unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to sell, deliver or transfer a stolen firearm or attempt to sell, deliver or transfer a stolen firearm.

⁽³⁾ Any person convicted of violating this section shall be guilty of a felony and shall be punished as follows:

is that §97-37-35(3)(c) is unconstitutional for four reasons.

First, $\S(3)(c)$ is vague as to the elements. It requires no *mens rea*, no criminal intent, no *scienter* or knowledge that the weapons are stolen, nor does it require any criminal intent to sell the additional one or two weapons which triggers the enhancement.

Secondly, (3)(c) of the statute is vague as to the number of weapons required for enhanced punishment.

Thirdly, by increasing an offense from mere possession to trafficking based on the number of weapons, the statute creates a "mandatory rebuttable presumption" of intent to trafficking in stolen firearms that reduces the state's burden of proof and precludes a jury from deliberating the defendant's criminal intent, *vel non*, to be a trafficker of stolen weapons.

Fourthly, (3)(c) provides for sentences which are grossly disproportionate to the criminal conduct sought to be punished and or deterred.

⁽a) For the first conviction, punishment by commitment to the Department of Corrections for five (5) years;

⁽b) For the second and subsequent convictions, the offense shall be considered trafficking in stolen firearms punishable by commitment to the Department of Corrections for not less than fifteen (15) years.

⁽c) For a conviction where the offender possesses two (2) or more stolen firearms, the offense shall be considered trafficking in stolen firearms punishable by commitment to the Department of Corrections for not less than fifteen (15) years.

⁽⁴⁾ Any person who commits or attempts to commit any other crime while in possession of a stolen firearm shall be guilty of a separate felony of possession of a stolen firearm under this section and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by commitment to the Department of Corrections for five (5) years, such term to run consecutively and not concurrently with any other sentence of incarceration.

Vagueness as to Mens Rea

As written, §(3)(c) of the subject statute can be read to make it a crime to sell stolen guns whether a person knows they are stolen or not. This knowledge of the firearms being stolen will be referred to as "guilty knowledge" for convenience sake. "Guilty knowledge", in the context of receiving stolen property, includes receiving the stolen property under circumstances that would put a reasonable person on notice that the goods are stolen. Miss. Code Ann. §97-17-70 (2006 Supp.). Since the present statute authorizes criminal prosecution without "guilty knowledge", i. e. without *mens rea*, it is an illegal strict liability criminal statute which runs afoul of the Fifth and Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U. S. Constitution and Article 3 §14 and 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

The word "knowingly" in the first part of the statute does not cure the vagueness. It is not clear whether "knowingly" includes "guilty knowledge". A person can knowingly possess or sell something, but not know the object's lineage. This arises in civil matters so much so that the definition of "a good faith purchaser is [specifically] 'one who has in good faith paid a valuable consideration *without notice* of ... adverse rights in another." [emphasis added] *Harrell v. Lamar Co., LLC*, 925 So.2d 870, 876 (Miss. App. 2005).

The necessity for requiring the state to have to prove the element of "guilty knowledge" can perhaps best be seen by comparing Miss. Code Ann. §97-37-35 (2006

Supp.), the statute here, with our receiving stolen property statute §97-17-70(1)(2006 Supp.), which states:

(1) A person commits the crime of receiving stolen property if he intentionally possesses, receives, or retains or disposes of stolen property knowing that it has been stolen or having reasonable grounds to believe it has been stolen, unless the property is possessed, received, retained or disposed of with intent to restore to the owner.

According to *Washington v. State*, 726 So.2d 209, 212-13 (Miss. App. 1998), the statutory elements to be proven for the crime of receiving stolen property are "(1) the possession, receipt, retention or disposition of personal property (2) stolen from someone else (3) with knowledge or a reasonable belief that the property is stolen." [emphasis added] No crime is committed without "guilty knowledge". *Id.* Since, the section of the statute in the present case under which Riley was prosecuted is silent as to "guilty knowledge" the statute is unconstitutionally vague. The statute does not even define what the term "firearm" includes.

In *Davis v. State*, 806 So.2d 1098, 1102 (Miss. 2001) the court declared Miss. Code Ann. 97-41-1 (1972)², a cruelty to animals law, to be unconstitutionally vague due to a lack of *mens rea* or a clear identification of criminal intent as an element of the

2

Miss. Code Ann.§ 97-41-1. Cruelty to living creatures

If any person shall override, overdrive, overload, torture, torment, unjustifiably injure, deprive of necessary sustenance, food, or drink; or cruelly beat or needlessly mutilate; or cause or procure to be overridden, overdriven, overloaded, tortured, unjustifiably injured, tormented, or deprived of necessary sustenance, food or drink; or to be cruelly beaten or needlessly mutilated or killed, any living creature, every such offender shall, for every offense, be guilty of a misdemeanor.

offense. A statute is unconstitutionally vague if it does not set forth the elements of the criminal offense "with sufficient definiteness such that a person of ordinary intelligence has fair notice of what conduct is prohibited." *Id*.

The *Davis* court found there was no way for a reasonable person to discern what conduct was prohibited by the statute. An animal owner could be prosecuted for cruelty if they tried to treat or heal their own animal themselves and not involve a veterinarian. *Id*. The animal owner could be violating the statute, subjecting themselves to criminal prosecution, and not know it. Here, with the trafficking in stolen firearms statute as written, a person could be violating the statute thinking they are possessing or selling legitimate guns, but which are in reality stolen, and thus unknowingly violate the statute.

In *Lewis v. State*, 765 So. 2d 493, 500 (Miss. 2000), the court struck down a portion of a controlled substance statute (Miss. Code Ann. § 41-29-139(f) (Supp. 2006)) which provided for mitigation to offenders who cooperated with law enforcement. This is referred to as the "self-help" provision. There were "no specific guidelines or standards" provided in the statute to determine whether a person actually aided in a prosecution or not. The *Lewis* court found the "self-help" aspect of the statute unconstitutionally vague since its lack of clarity could lead to "arbitrary and capricious prosecution" violating the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Id.* The same conclusion is required for §(3)(c).

Vagueness As To Quantity of Weapons

Subsection (3)(c) is also unclear as to the number of stolen firearms required for the increase in sentencing, and:

(c) For a conviction where the offender possesses two (2) or more stolen firearms, the offense shall be considered trafficking in stolen firearms punishable by commitment to the Department of Corrections for not less than fifteen (15) years.

Applying the test from *Davis, supra,* an average person cannot determine whether (3)(c) increases the sentence for possessing or selling one gun while possessing two more or for selling or possessing one gun while possessing one more, which would also be a total of two firearms. Moreover, without "objective standards" and "legislative guidance" there is an acute danger of "arbitrary and capricious judgment" by courts interpreting the law and rendering sentence. The risk of arbitrary and capricious interpretation and application of §(3)c) extends to law enforcement and prosecutors in prosecuting offenses as well. *Id.* See also *Washington v. State*, 478 So.2d 1028 (Miss, 1985).

A statute that is so indefinite that it "encourages arbitrary and erratic arrests and convictions" and which fails to give adequate notice to potential offenders is void for vagueness. *Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville*, 405 U.S. 156, 162, 92 S.Ct. 839, 843, (1972).

Shifting of Burden, Increasing Sentence Without Jury Deliberation

The statute here is also unconstitutionally vague, because, although the crime is called "trafficking in stolen firearms", the statue punishes mere possession of extra stolen firearms rather than the actual sale or trafficking. The statute does not state that the possession of the extra weapons has to be wilful, knowing, or that the extra weapons even have to be possessed with the intent to sell.

The substantial increase in sentence for mere possession without proof of intent to traffic needing to be proved by the state not only wrongfully reduces the state's burden of proof, it also illegally increases punishment without affording a defendant due process of a jury deliberating on intent to sell or traffic.

Subsection (3)(c), therefore, creates an improper presumption that a person who merely possess two or more stolen guns, knowingly or unknowingly, is a weapons trafficker without the state having to prove any intent to sell the extra guns.

In Riley's case, the jury was allowed to deliberate if the state met a burden to prove a requisite number of weapons; however, Riley's jury was not allowed to deliberate, as the statute does not require it, whether Mr. Riley was indeed a stolen weapons trafficker, which triggered the increase in sentence. [R. 9-10]. The presumption placed a burden on Riley to put on a defense. Otherwise, the presumption created by the number of weapons allegedly involved unconstitutionally guarantees conviction.

In Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 523, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 2459, 61 L.Ed.2d 39,

50 (1979), the defendant was charged with reckless homicide. The jury was instructed that, if they found the "defendant was under influence of alcohol at time of alleged violation, such evidence should be presumed to be evidence of a reckless act unless disproved by evidence to contrary." The Supreme Court found that it is error to give a jury instruction that creates an unconstitutional "mandatory rebuttable presumption" that "shifts the burden of persuasion to the defendant", because such presumptions relieve the state of the requisite burden to prove each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* This is because such "conclusive presumptions conflict with the overriding presumption of innocence ... and they invade the fact-finding function" of the jury. *Id.*

Application of the *Sandstrom* principle in an analogous set of facts to those before this Court now can be found in *People v. Miles*, 800 N. E. 2nd 122, 126-27 (III. App. 2003). In *Miles*, a defendant was charged with possession of six counterfeit credit cards under a statute which created a presumption of intent to defraud if a defendant possessed more than two.

As in the present case, in *Miles*, mere possession of something created a mental *animus* which increased punishment without the state having to prove even a scintilla of scienter or criminal intent. Following the requirements of *Sandstrom, supra*, the Illinois court reversed explaining that "the State was effectively relieved of its burden of proving defendant's intent to defraud beyond a reasonable doubt" which shifted a burden to the defendant to prove either an unknowing or benign possession of the counterfeit cards. 800

N. E. 2nd 122, 126-27. It was the shifting of the burden of proof which the Illinois court found to always be unconstitutional. *Id*.

The *Sandstrom* principle is no stranger to the courts in Mississippi. In *Edwards v*. *State*, 469 So. 2d 68, 71 (Miss. 1985), our Supreme Court reversed a food stamp fraud conviction under a statute which created an mandatory presumption of intent to defraud for failing to notify authorities of a change in circumstances. The *Edwards* court explained that any kind of presumption "must not undermine the fact finder's responsibility at trial, based on evidence adduced by the State, to find the ultimate facts beyond a reasonable doubt." The factual similarities between *Edwards* and this case compel this court to now declare §(3)(c) unconstitutional and reverse and render Riley's conviction.

In U.S. v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 125 S.Ct. 738 (2005) the Supreme Court struck down the mandatory application of the U. S. Sentencing Guidelines under 18 U.S.C.A. § 3553(b)(1), because the guidelines allowed a sentencing court to make factual finding affecting sentencing rather than a jury. The *Booker* court relied on the previous decision of *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 301, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 2536 (2004) which confirmed a criminal defendant's fundamental right to have a jury deliberate and find, beyond a reasonable doubt, the existence of "any particular fact" essential to punishment. 542 U.S., at 301, 124 S.Ct., at 2536. The Court held that right is absolute whenever a judge seeks to impose a sentence that is not solely based on "facts reflected in the jury

verdict or admitted by the defendant". *Id.* See also *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002); *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000).

The state here could argue that the number of weapons was presented to the jury for their determination in Jury Instruction 2 (S-1), thus satisfying *Booker*. [R. 9-10]. However, that position misses the gravamen of the appellant's argument that it is the presumption of guilty knowledge of or the intent to sell the stolen weapons which makes the offender a trafficker and it is this knowledge and/or criminal intent which the jury never gets to consider which makes §(3)(c) offensive to due process, and which requires reversal here as a matter of law.

Cruel and Unusual Punishment

Subsection (3)(c) provides for open ended sentencing with a minimum of fifteen (15) years. For open ended statutes, like the one being considered by the Court now, the maximum is life. *United States v. Fields*, 923 F.2d 358, 362 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 937, 111 S.Ct. 2066, 114 L.Ed.2d 470 (1991) The statute under consideration is unconstitutionally disproportionate, authorizing absurdly cruel and unusual punishment; because, a first offender could merely possess two or three stolen pistols and be sentenced to die in prison.

Cruel and unusual punishment is prohibited by the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 3 §28 of the Mississippi

Constitution. As for the statute at issue, going from five (5) years under Subsection (a) to a potential life sentence is giant leap of lunar proportions for the addition of one gun. It would be akin to increasing the sentence for possession of a controlled substance under Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139 (2006 Supp.) from less than ten (10) years to a potential life sentence if the offender possessed the drugs with intent to distribute. One conclusion which could be reached is that possessing three stolen pistols is worse than selling one hundred kilograms of pure heroin. Subsection (3)(c) clearly lacks thoughtful proportionality in its sentencing scheme. A comparison of the present statute with the elements of "drug trafficking" in §41-29-139 (g)(2) (2006 Supp.)³ reveals just how poorly drafted §(3)(c) is.

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