#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### JAMES RILEY A/K/A/ "BOO-LU"

APPELLANT

FILED

OCT 1 9 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-0445-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

VS.

APPELLEE

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### **APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

#### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

ł.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

####

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

Mr. William Robinson testified that on August 13, 2006, "Boo-Lo", Riley, came to his house. R. 65. Riley wanted to sell him some firearms. R. 65. Robinson only had about \$125.00. R. 66. Riley checked with a friend. He then agreed to sell him three guns for that amount. R. 65. Robinson knew there was a 9 millimeter and two .22 caliber handguns. He identified state's photo exhibit 22, 25, and 26 as being the three weapons he purchased on that date. R. 66.

Mr. Robinson testified that Riley returned on August 16, 2006. R. 67. When asked about buying some more guns, Riley again told him he only had about \$125.00. R. 67. Riley checked with his friend. Robinson identified this friend as Ickom. Riley agreed to sell Robinson five guns for that price. R. 67. When contacted by law enforcement and questioned about the purchasing of stolen weapons, Robinson surrendered all the firearms into the police's custody. R. 69.

Officer Martin Roby testified that he recovered numerous stolen firearms from William Robinson. R. 77. Based on information provided by Robinson and others, Roby interviewed Mr. Riley. Riley told Officer Roby where a .380 caliber hand gun was located. It was "located underneath the steering column, just below the steering wheel." R. 78. This was concealed inside Ickom's car. R. 78. This .380 handgun was reported stolen from Ms. Nowell's house. R, 78.

Officer Zeely Shaw testified that he also interviewed Riley. While Riley denied knowing

about the house burglaries, he admitted to knowing where the stolen guns "had been sold." R. 108.

At the conclusion of the state's case, the trial court denied a motion for a directed verdict. R. 114. After being advised of his right to decide to testify, based upon his own decision, Riley decided not to testify. R. 115-116.

The trial court granted jury instruction S-4. R. 120. There was no objection to the granting of the instruction. R. 119-120. This was the instruction on recent possession of stolen property. The Court found that there was a basis for the instruction since there was testimony that Riley aided and abetted Ickom in stealing the property at issue. There was evidence that he came into possession of the stolen weapons in this surreptitious manner. R. 120. Jury instructions S-1 for counts 4 and 5 were also included which included knowingly, intentionally selling two or more stolen firearms to Mr. William Robinson. C.P. 9-10. Riley was given an instruction on how an accomplice's testimony must be viewed by the jury "with great caution and suspicion." C.P. 13.

Riley was found guilty of two counts of trafficking by knowingly selling, or transferring two or more stolen firearms. He was given two thirty year "concurrent" sentences in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. There was no objection to his sentences raised with the trial court on any grounds. R. 143 ; C.P. 26-27. The trial court denied a motion for a J. N. O. V. or a New Trial. C.P. 33. There was no issues raised about Riley's sentences in this post trial motion. C.P. 33.

From that conviction, Riley appealed to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 34-35.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. This issue was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court. R. 143-144; C.P. 30-31. **Patterson v. State**, 594 So. 2d 606, 609 (Miss. 1992). And contrary to Riley's argument on appeal, M. C. A. §97-37-35(3) (C) (2006 Supp.) provides sufficient notice as to what conduct is prohibited. It forbids the knowing or intentional selling of "two or more stolen firearms," which is exactly what Riley was convicted of doing based upon credible, substantial evidence.

The statute provides for enhanced sentencing where one convicted possessed "two or more stolen firearms." This sentence of "not less than fifteen" was provided by the legislature, given the serious consequences which result when stolen firearms are transferred or sold to others. Judicial review of sentences is limited to accepting the will of the people as expressed through the legislature. Since the statute does not specify an upper limit, Riley's "concurrent" sentences were arguably within the range provided by statute. The statute provides for graduated sentences from five, to ten to fifteen based upon the number of sales that have been committed, as well as for a conviction for selling where "two or more stolen firearms" are involved. M. C. A. §97-37-35 (3) (c).

2. There was credible, substantial eye witness testimony in support of the trial court's denial of a peremptory instruction, and in support of the jury's verdict. There was credible, corroborated testimony that on August 13, and 16, 2006, Riley knowingly and intentionally transferred or sold "two or more stolen fire arms" to Mr. William Robinson. R. 64-68.

Robinson identified Riley as the person who sold him multiple firearms on these two dates. R. 64. He sold him a total of some eight fire arms on these two different dates. R. 64-68. Various victims, including Ms. Cheek, Mr. Rosamond, Mr. Sims, Ms. Moorehead, and Mr. Harrell identified various photographic exhibits of firearms as being faithful depictions of those which had been stolen from their burglarized homes. This was during August, 2006. These identifiable fire arms were

returned to them by the police. R. 34; 42; 49; 55, 60.

Mr. Martin Ickom identified exhibit 22, 23, 24, 25, and 26 as being photographs of the firearms he helped steal from various homes in Attala County. R. 84-87. Ickom also identified photographic exhibits of the various houses that he and Riley had burglarized, including the Cheeks and the Sims. R. 84-88. He testified that they obtained the stolen fire arms by burglarizing various houses. This was with the aid and assistance of Mr. Riley. R. 86-90. He also identified the stolen firearms depicted in the photographs as being the same weapons Riley sold to Mr. Robinson. R. 86-95.

Mr. Ickom testified that their "modus operandi" was to visit homes during the day. They looked for houses where no one answered the door. R. 93. Ickom would tear out telephone wiring to prevent any 911 calls. R. 85; 92. Then Riley would break into the house by forcing open the doors. R. 85. Riley would then return to Ickom's car with stolen firearms, and other items, including jewelry. R. 93. Ickom also testified that Riley kept the stolen firearms at his house. They used Ickom's car for transportation when they went to sell the guns. They shared the proceeds from the sales. R. 88.; 90.

Officer Zeely Shaw testified that Riley told him he knew where the stolen guns "had been sold." R. 108. Officer Martin Roby testified that Riley told him where one of the stolen guns was "located." It was concealed "underneath the steering column in Ickom's car." R. 78. This firearm, a .350 caliber hand gun, was stolen from Ms. Glynnis Nowell's residence. R. 77-78.

3. Issues related to Riley's sentence were waived for failure to raise them with the trial court. R. 143-144; C.P. 30-31. In addition, Riley's thirty year "concurrent" sentences were within the guidelines provided by statute for one convicted of trafficking where "two or more stolen fire arms" were involved. M. C. A. § 97-37-35(3)(C). The statute provides for a sentence of "not less than

fifteen." The statute does not include an upper limit. It was therefore not cruel or unusual or disproportionate. The Mississippi legislature established this sentence, rather than the leaders of some other sovereign entity, whether state or federal.

Co-defendant Martin Ickom's thirty- two year sentence was for various burglary convictions and not for a conviction for trafficking in stolen firearms. R. 93. Since Riley's sentence was a concurrent sentence, and within the limits provided by statute there was no need for any proportionality analysis. Furthermore, as admitted by Riley's counsel, there were no other comparable state sentence with which it could be compared. Riley has no standing to complain of a "non-habitual" life sentence since he did not received one.

4. This issue was waived for failure to object to the granting of the instruction. R. 119-120. In addition, the record reflects that the jury was properly instructed. There was testimony from Mr. Ickom from which it was reasonable to infer that Riley was in possession of recently stolen fire arms. R. 84-95. There was also testimony that Riley knowingly transferred and sold to Mr. William Robinson what was determined by investigators to be recently stolen fire arms. R. 64-95.

There was also testimony from officers Roby and Shaw that Riley was knowledgeable about where a stolen gun was concealed as well as where stolen handguns had been sold. R. 77-78; 108. There was therefore evidence from which it could be inferred that Riley knew the firearms were stolen. However, Riley provided no explanation to the jury as to how he came into possession of these recently stolen fire arms.

Jury instruction S-4 on possession of recently stolen property was given along with S-1 for the elements of selling stolen weapons on August 13, 2006, count 4 and on August 16, 2006 for count 5, along with all the other instructions provided by the trial court. C.P. 3-25.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### PROPOSITION I

## THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND M. C.A. §97-37-35(3)(2006 SUPP.) IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Riley's appeal counsel believes that the statute forbidding trafficking in stolen firearms is unconstitutional. He believes that it is unconstitutional because it is "vague" as to the elements, particularly the "mens rea" element. He believes it is vague as to the number of weapons required for enhanced punishment. He believes that by increasing the punishment from mere possession to trafficking based on the number of stolen weapons involved, it reduces the state's burden of proof. And finally, he believes that it provides for sentences which are "grossly disproportionate" to the criminal conduct of the perpetrators. Appellant's brief page 4-16.

The record reflects that these issues were not raised with the trial court. They were not raised during the trial, at sentencing or in any post trial motions with the court. R. 143-144; C.P. 30-31. In **Patterson v. State**, 594 So. 2d 606, 609 (Miss. 1992), the Court stated that constitutional issues not raised with the trial court were waived on appeal.

The rule that questions not raised in the lower court will not be reviewed on appeal is particularly true where constitutional questions are involved. **Stewart v. City of Pascagoula**, 206 So. 2d 325 (Miss. 1968). These questions were waived-forfeited, if you please-if not asserted at the trial level. **Contreara v. State**, 45 So. 2d 543, 544 (Miss. 1984) [Appellant did not raise in lower court the constitutionality of statute proscribing crime against nature, and for that reason the question could not be considered on appeal].

In addition, contrary to appeal counsel's argument, the statute clearly makes it unlawful for any person to knowingly and intentionally sell, deliver, or transfer stolen firearms. Where there is evidence that one convicted possessed "two or more stolen firearms," then the statute provides for a sentence of "not less than fifteen years." In **Davis v. State** 806 So. 2d 1098, \*1102 (Miss. 2001), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that the test for unconstitutionality for vagueness was whether " the statute defines the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness such that a person of ordinary intelligence has fair notice of what conduct is prohibited."

¶ 11. Although neither party has questioned the statute's constitutionality, the issue involving the proper intent for a conviction under Miss. Code Ann. § 97-41-1 forces this Court to consider whether this statute is unconstitutional for vagueness. "The test to be used in determining whether a statute is unconstitutionally vague is whether the statute defines the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness such that a person of ordinary intelligence has fair notice of what conduct is prohibited." Lewis v. State, 765 So.2d 493 (Miss.2000) (citing, Posters 'N' Things, Ltd. v. United States, 511 U.S. 513, 525, 114 S. Ct. 1747, 1754, 128 L. Ed. 2d 539, 552 (1994)); Roberson v. State, 501 So. 2d 398, 400 (Miss.1987).

Contrary to appeal counsel's argument, there is a lack of evidence for holding that Riley believed that he was in possession of and transferred or sold firearms which he did not know had in reality been stolen. Rather there was evidence from which it could be inferred that Riley knew that the firearms he was selling were stolen. R. 64-70. He informed investigators that he knew where a stolen weapon was hidden, as well as he knew where the weapons were sold. R.77-78; 108.

Riley is not entitled to give himself the benefit of reasonable inferences in favor of his innocence on issues never raised with the trial court.

Rather there was evidence, which we will cite more fully under proposition II, from which it could be inferred that Riley was in possession of many recently stolen firearms. R. 64-68. He was also actively involved in transferring and selling these firearms to Mr. Robinson. R. 64-68. Robinson testified that he acquired some eight fire arms from Riley. He bought the weapons on two separate occasions on August 13 and August 16, 2006.

Mr. Martin Ickom testified that he and Riley acquired these numerous firearms during a burglary crime spree in August, 2006. R.84-104. The same fire arms Ickom identified as having been stolen were identified by the victims of the burglaries as being firearms removed from their homes during August, 2006. R. 34; 42; 49; 55, 60. Ickom testified that he and Riley sold these weapons to Mr Robinson on several occasions. R. 86-95.

Officers Roby and Shaw testified that Riley told him he knew where a stolen hand gun was concealed in Ickom's car, as well as where stolen guns had been sold. R. 77-78; 108.

Therefore, there was record evidence in support of finding that Riley not only transferred and sold more than two firearms on two occasions, but also that he did so knowing that there were stolen.

This issue was waived for failure to raise it with the trial court and the record reflects that it is also lacking in merit.

#### PROPOSITION II

#### THERE WAS CREDIBLE, SUBSTANTIAL EYE WITNESS TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF RILEY'S CONVICTIONS.

Riley's appellant counsel believes that there was insufficient evidence in support of his two convictions for trafficking in stolen weapons. He believes that there was inadequate evidence because the actual stolen fire arms were not introduced into evidence. Rather the only things admitted into evidence were the photographs of the various stolen weapons contained in the exhibits volume.

In addition, he believes there was insufficient evidence that Riley "knew" the fire arms were stolen. He thinks the only evidence for that conclusion came from co-defendant Martin Ickom. R. 111. He believes that Ickom's accomplice's testimony was impeached as well as unreliable. This was shown in the jury's verdict acquitting Riley of the burglaries. They did not believe the accomplices' testimony on this issue. Appellant's brief page 16-18.

To the contrary, the record reflects that there was no objection to the introduction of the

photographs of the many stolen firearms. R. 24-25. In addition, the record reflects no objection to the identification of the actual stolen guns by the victims or law enforcement by use of the mounted photographic depictions used during the trial. R. 34; 42; 49; 55; C.P. 30-31. A reviewing of the photographic exhibit evidence reveals that the serial numbers can be seen on many of the firearms. The white tags attached to the weapons also contain the serial numbers, the type of weapon, e.g. "AMT 9mm," as well as the various owners, e.g. "James Cheek."

And finally, the issue of "the authenticity" of the hand guns identified as being the same as those stolen through the use of photographic evidence was not raised during the trial or in Riley's Motion for a JNOV. C.P. 30-32.

This issue of whether the actual weapons stolen from Attala County home owners was sufficiently well established to distinguish them from some other type of imaginary weapons was therefore waived.

In Holland v. State, 587 So. 2d 848, 868 (Miss. 1991), this court stated that issues not raised with the trial court were waived on appeal.

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